



November 18, 2019

VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL

U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement Freedom of Information Act Office 500 12th St. SW, Stop 5009 Washington, D.C. 20536-5009 ICE-FOIA@dhs.gov

Re: Freedom of Information Act Request

Dear FOIA Officer:

Pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), 5 U.S.C. § 552, and the implementing regulations of the Department of Homeland Security, 6 C.F.R. Part 5, American Oversight and the American Civil Liberties Union of Massachusetts, Inc. ("ACLUM") (collectively, the "Requestors") request the records described below.

On or about April 25, 2019, Massachusetts Judge Shelley M. Richmond Joseph ("Judge Joseph") and Massachusetts Court Officer Wesley MacGregor ("Officer MacGregor") were indicted in the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts (Docket Entry 1, Case No. 19-10141-LTS) (the "Indictment"). They were both charged with conspiracy to obstruct justice, obstruction of justice, and obstruction of a federal proceeding.¹ The Indictment alleges, in summary, that, on April 2, 2018, Judge Joseph and Officer MacGregor permitted a defendant in the Newton District Court to leave the building via a rear exit, notwithstanding the fact that an Immigration and Customs Enforcement ("ICE") officer wished to arrest the defendant near the front exit. A complete copy of the Indictment is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

Judge Joseph and Officer MacGregor have filed motions to dismiss the indictment, which remain pending. Several *amici curiae* have filed briefs in the district court supporting dismissal, including

¹ Officer MacGregor was also charged individually with allegedly committing perjury in his testimony to the grand jury.



the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and the Ad Hoc Committee for Judicial Independence (a group of 61 retired Massachusetts judges).²

In and around April 2018, ICE's Acting Director was Thomas Homan, ICE's Executive Associate Director for Enforcement and Removal Operations ("ERO") was Matthew Albence, and the U.S. Attorney for the District of Massachusetts was Andrew Lelling. On November 16, 2019, the *New York Times* published an article concerning the prosecution of Judge Joseph and Officer MacGregor entitled "When the Judge Became the Defendant" (the "Article").³ In the Article, the *Times* reported, among other things, that Mr. Homan stated:

- That Mr. Homan "heard about [the event alleged in the Indictment] the same day it happened";
- That Mr. Homan was informed of those events "by Matthew Albence";
- That Mr. Homan "immediately began asking about legal recourse" and "asked 'is there a legal action I could take?'";
- That Mr. Homan believed "[w]e've got to find a U.S. attorney who is willing to indict" and that he "talked to [his] legal" staff about doing this;
- That his "legal staff" said "it would be up to the U.S. attorney's office" whether to proceed.

Requested Records

The Requestors request that ICE produce the following records within twenty business days:

- 1. All communications (including emails, email attachments, calendar invitations, text messages, letters, memoranda, or other communications) of the following ICE officials concerning Judge Joseph, Officer MacGregor, and/or the events alleged in the Indictment:
 - a. Thomas Homan, Former Acting Director, or anyone communicating on his behalf, such as an assistant or scheduler
 - b. Matthew Albence, Acting Director, Former Deputy Director, and Former Executive Associate Director for ERO, or anyone communicating on his behalf, such as an assistant or scheduler

² See Press Release, 61 Retired State Judges Urge Court to Dismiss Charges Against Judge Joseph, ACLUM (Sept. 16, 2019, 10:00 AM), https://www.aclum.org/en/news/61-retired-state-judges-urge-court-dismiss-charges-against-judge-joseph.

³ Ellen Barry, *When the Judge Became the Defendant*, N.Y. TIMES, Nov. 16, 2019, https://www.nytimes.com/2019/11/16/us/shelley-joseph-immigration-judge.html?smid=nytcore-jos-share.

- c. Ronald Vitiello, Former Acting Director and Former Deputy Director, or anyone communicating on his behalf, such as an assistant or scheduler
- d. Thomas Blank, Former Chief of Staff
- e. Tracy Short, Principal Legal Advisor
- f. Jon Feere, Senior Advisor
- g. Nathalie Asher, Executive Associate Director of ERO
- 2. All records concerning any investigation by ICE of Judge Joseph, Officer MacGregor, and/or the events alleged in the Indictment, including but not limited to any notes, reports, and memoranda.
- 3. All records of final guidance, directives, or instructions provided by ICE to Mr. Lelling or his staff concerning Judge Joseph, Officer MacGregor, and/or the events alleged in the Indictment.

Please provide all responsive records from March 15, 2018, through April 25, 2019.

Fee Waiver Request

In accordance with 5 U.S.C. § 552(a) (4) (A) (iii) and 6 C.F.R. § 5.11(k), we request a waiver of fees associated with processing this request for records. The subject of this request concerns the operations of the federal government, and the disclosures will likely contribute to a better understanding of relevant government procedures by the general public in a significant way.⁴ Moreover, the request is primarily and fundamentally for non-commercial purposes.⁵

Requestors seek a waiver of fees because disclosure of the requested information is "in the public interest because it is likely to contribute significantly to public understanding" of government.⁶ The requested record will help Requestors and the general public understand the Trump Administration's policies, procedures, and activities in the field of immigration enforcement, which has been a centerpiece of the President Trump's public policy agenda. The administration's policies, procedures, and activities in this regard are subject of significant public and press interest. The requested records regarding this specific government activity would meaningfully inform the public as to the Administration's unprecedented prosecution of a state judge solely for the management of parties' movements within the state courthouse, and would significantly enhance the public's understanding of such activities.

This request is primarily and fundamentally for non-commercial purposes.⁷

As a 501(c)(3) nonprofit, American Oversight does not have a commercial purpose and the release of the information requested is not in American Oversight's financial interest. American

⁴ 6 C.F.R. § 5.11(k)(1)(i).

⁵ 6 C.F.R. § 5.11(k)(1)(ii).

⁶ 6 C.F.R. § 5.11(k)(1)(i); 6 C.F.R. § 5.11(k)(2)(i)-(iv).

⁷ 6 C.F.R. § 5.11(k)(1)(ii); 6 C.F.R. § 5.11(k)(3)(i)-(ii).

Oversight's mission is to promote transparency in government, to educate the public about government activities, and to ensure the accountability of government officials. American Oversight uses the information gathered, and its analysis of it, to educate the public through reports, press releases, or other media. American Oversight also makes materials it gathers available on its public website and promotes their availability on social media platforms, such as Facebook and Twitter.⁸

American Oversight has also demonstrated its commitment to the public disclosure of documents and creation of editorial content through numerous substantive analyses posted to its website. Examples reflecting this commitment to the public disclosure of documents and the creation of editorial content include the posting of records related to an ethics waiver received by a senior Department of Justice attorney and an analysis of what those records demonstrated regarding the Department's process for issuing such waivers; Department of received as part of American Oversight's "Audit the Wall" project to gather and analyze information related to the administration's proposed construction of a barrier along the U.S.-Mexico border, and analyses of what those records reveal; Dosting records regarding potential self-dealing at the Department of Housing & Urban Development and related analysis; Posting records and analysis relating to the federal government's efforts to sell nuclear technology to Saudi Arabia; and posting records and analysis regarding the Department of Justice's decision in response to demands from Congress to direct a U.S. Attorney to undertake a wide-ranging review and make recommendations regarding criminal investigations relating to the President's political opponents and allegations of misconduct by the Department of Justice itself and the Federal Bureau of Investigation.

4

⁸ American Oversight currently has approximately 12,280 page likes on Facebook and 55,800 followers on Twitter. American Oversight, FACEBOOK, https://www.facebook.com/weareoversight/ (last visited Nov. 7, 2019); American Oversight (@weareoversight), TWITTER, https://twitter.com/weareoversight (last visited Nov. 7, 2019).

⁹ News, AMERICAN OVERSIGHT, https://www.americanoversight.org/blog.

¹⁰ DOJ Records Relating to Solicitor General Noel Francisco's Recusal, AMERICAN OVERSIGHT, https://www.americanoversight.org/document/doj-civil-division-response-noel-francisco-compliance; Francisco & the Travel Ban: What We Learned from the DOJ Documents, AMERICAN OVERSIGHT, https://www.americanoversight.org/francisco-the-travel-ban-what-we-learned-from-the-doj-documents.

¹¹ See generally Audit the Wall, AMERICAN OVERSIGHT, https://www.americanoversight.org/investigation/audit-the-wall; see, e.g., Border Wall Investigation Report: No Plans, No Funding, No Timeline, No Wall, AMERICAN OVERSIGHT, https://www.americanoversight.org/border-wall-investigation-report-no-plans-no-funding-no-timeline-no-wall.

¹² Documents Reveal Ben Carson Jr.'s Attempts to Use His Influence at HUD to Help His Business, AMERICAN OVERSIGHT, https://www.americanoversight.org/documents-reveal-ben-carson-jr-s-attempts-to-use-his-influence-at-hud-to-help-his-business.

¹³ Investigating the Trump Administration's Efforts to Sell Nuclear Technology to Saudi Arabia, AMERICAN OVERSIGHT, https://www.americanoversight.org/investigating-the-trump-administrations-efforts-to-sell-nuclear-technology-to-saudi-arabia.

¹⁴ Sessions' Letter Shows DOJ Acted on Trump's Authoritarian Demand to Investigate Clinton, AMERICAN OVERSIGHT, https://www.americanoversight.org/sessions-letter.

Similarly, ACLUM is a not-for-profit, non-partisan organization dedicated to the principles of liberty and equality. As the Massachusetts affiliate of the national ACLU, a not-for-profit, non-partisan organization, ACLUM distributes information both within and outside of Massachusetts. Gathering and disseminating current information to the public is a critical and substantial component of ACLUM's mission and work. ACLUM publishes newsletters, news briefings, reports and other materials that are disseminated to the public, including through ACLUM's website¹⁵ and regular posts on social media sites such as Facebook and Twitter. These materials are widely available to everyone, including tax-exempt organizations, not-for-profit groups, law students and faculty, at no cost.

Accordingly, Requestors qualify for a fee waiver.

Guidance Regarding the Search & Processing of Requested Records

In connection with its request for records, Requestors provide the following guidance regarding the scope of the records sought and the search and processing of records:

- Please search all locations and systems likely to have responsive records, regardless of format, medium, or physical characteristics. For instance, please search all locations likely to contain communications, including relevant hard-copy files, correspondence files, appropriate locations on hard drives and shared drives, emails, text messages or other direct messaging systems (such as iMessage, WhatsApp, Signal, or Twitter direct messages), voicemail messages, instant messaging systems such as Lync or ICQ, and shared messages systems such as Slack.
- In conducting your search, please understand the terms "record," "document," and "information" in their broadest sense, to include any written, typed, recorded, graphic, printed, or audio material of any kind.
- Our request for records includes any attachments to those records or other materials enclosed with those records when they were previously transmitted. To the extent that an email is responsive to our request, our request includes all prior messages sent or received in that email chain, as well as any attachments to the email.
- Please search all relevant records or systems containing records regarding agency business. Do not exclude records regarding agency business contained in files, email accounts, or devices in the personal custody of your officials, such as personal email accounts or text messages. Records of official business conducted using unofficial systems or stored outside of official files are subject to the Federal Records Act and FOIA.¹⁶ It is not adequate to rely on policies and procedures that require officials to move such information to official

¹⁵ ACLU Massachusetts, www.aclum.org.

¹⁶ See Competitive Enter. Inst. v. Office of Sci. & Tech. Policy, 827 F.3d 145, 149–50 (D.C. Cir. 2016); cf. Judicial Watch, Inc. v. Kerry, 844 F.3d 952, 955–56 (D.C. Cir. 2016).

- systems within a certain period of time; Requestors have a right to records contained in those files even if material has not yet been moved to official systems or if officials have, by intent or through negligence, failed to meet their obligations.¹⁷
- Please use all tools available to your agency to conduct a complete and efficient search for potentially responsive records. Agencies are subject to government-wide requirements to manage agency information electronically,¹⁸ and many agencies have adopted the National Archives and Records Administration (NARA) Capstone program, or similar policies. These systems provide options for searching emails and other electronic records in a manner that is reasonably likely to be more complete than just searching individual custodian files. For example, a custodian may have deleted a responsive email from his or her email program, but your agency's archiving tools may capture that email under Capstone. At the same time, custodian searches are still necessary; agencies may not have direct access to files stored in .PST files, outside of network drives, in paper format, or in personal email accounts.
- In the event some portions of the requested records are properly exempt from disclosure, please disclose any reasonably segregable non-exempt portions of the requested records. If a request is denied in whole, please state specifically why it is not reasonable to segregate portions of the record for release.
- Please take appropriate steps to ensure that records responsive to this request are not deleted by the agency before the completion of processing for this request. If records potentially responsive to this request are likely to be located on systems where they are subject to potential deletion, including on a scheduled basis, please take steps to prevent that deletion, including, as appropriate, by instituting a litigation hold on those records.

Conclusion

If you have any questions regarding how to construe this request for records or believe that further discussions regarding search and processing would facilitate a more efficient production of records of interest to Requestors, please do not hesitate to contact us to discuss this request. Requestors welcome an opportunity to discuss their request with you before you undertake your search or incur search or duplication costs. By working together at the outset, we can decrease the likelihood of costly and time-consuming litigation in the future.

¹⁷ See Competitive Enter. Inst. v. Office of Sci. & Tech. Policy, No. 14-cv-765, slip op. at 8 (D.D.C. Dec. 12, 2016).

¹⁸ Presidential Memorandum—Managing Government Records, 76 Fed. Reg. 75,423 (Nov. 28, 2011), https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/2011/11/28/presidential-memorandum-managing-government-records; Office of Mgmt. & Budget, Exec. Office of the President, Memorandum for the Heads of Executive Departments & Independent Agencies, "Managing Government Records Directive," M-12-18 (Aug. 24, 2012), https://www.archives.gov/files/records-mgmt/m-12-18.pdf.

Where possible, please provide responsive material in an electronic format by email. Alternatively, please provide responsive material in native format or in PDF format on a USB drive. Please send any responsive material being sent by mail to American Oversight, 1030 15th Street NW, Suite B255, Washington, DC 20005. If it will accelerate release of responsive records to Requestors, please also provide responsive material on a rolling basis.

We share a common mission to promote transparency in government. American Oversight looks forward to working with your agency on this request. If you do not understand any part of this request, please contact Katherine Anthony at foia@americanoversight.org or (202) 897-3918. Also, if American Oversight's request for a fee waiver is not granted in full, please contact us immediately upon making such a determination.

Sincerely,

/s/ Austin Evers
Austin R. Evers
Executive Director
American Oversight

/s/ Dan McFadden
Daniel L. McFadden
Staff Attorney
ACLU of Massachusetts

EXHIBIT A

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

	Page 10141
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA	Criminal No. 1902/014/
v.	Violations:
(1) SHELLEY M. RICHMOND JOSEPH and (2) WESLEY MACGREGOR,	Count One: Conspiracy to Obstruct Justice (18 U.S.C. § 1512(k))
Defendants	Count Two: Obstruction of Justice; Aiding and Abetting (18 U.S.C. § 1512(c)(2); 18 U.S.C. § 2)
	Count Three: Obstruction of a Federal Proceeding; Aiding and Abetting (18 U.S.C. § 1505; 18 U.S.C. § 2)
	Count Four: Perjury (18 U.S.C. § 1623)

INDICTMENT

At all times relevant to this Indictment:

Introduction

1. The United States Department of Homeland Security, Immigration and Customs Enforcement ("ICE") was the federal governmental agency charged with enforcing federal immigration law in the United States. ICE's duties included conducting federal removal proceedings, which encompassed, among other things, identifying, apprehending, and initiating the removal process of aliens in the United States, who were subject to Immigration Court or other administratively issued final orders of removal.

- 2. The Newton District Court ("NDC" or "Courthouse") was a District Court within Middlesex County, Massachusetts, that had two courtrooms, a clerk's office, a probation office, and a lockup facility, which was situated on the bottom level of the Courthouse. The NDC had one to two assigned District Court Judges presiding over court matters, which included certain criminal, civil, housing, juvenile, and other types of cases under Massachusetts state or local laws.
- 3. Defendant Shelley M. Richmond JOSEPH was appointed as a Massachusetts District Court Judge on or about November 6, 2017, and was thereafter assigned to preside at various District Courts in Middlesex County, including NDC, in accordance with a monthly assignment schedule. Defendant JOSEPH had presided as the Judge at NDC on several occasions prior to April 2, 2018. Prior to her appointment, defendant JOSEPH was an experienced Newton-based criminal defense attorney, who was a partner in a small law practice, and who had previously lectured at law schools and professional legal education seminars on criminal and civil practice. As a District Court Judge, defendant JOSEPH had the authority to, among other things, arraign criminal defendants, set bail, detain or release defendants, and control other courtroom proceedings.
- 4. Defendant Wesley MACGREGOR was a Massachusetts Trial Court Officer since 1993 and was assigned to the NDC since approximately 2016. As an NDC Court Officer, defendant MACGREGOR was authorized to take custody of defendants within the NDC, and had security card access to the entry and exit doors to the lower level NDC lockup facility, including the rear, sally-port exit to the lockup.
- 5. The defense attorney (the "Defense Attorney") was a criminal defense lawyer who regularly represented criminal defendants at the NDC. The Defense Attorney was familiar with

defendant JOSEPH as a judge and defense lawyer, and with defendant MACGREGOR from frequent appearances at the NDC.

6. The alien subject ("A.S.") was arrested on March 30, 2018 by Newton Police and charged under Massachusetts General Law with being a fugitive from justice from Pennsylvania (the "M.G.L. Fugitive Charge" or "MGL Count 1") and narcotics possession (the "M.G.L. Drug Charges" or "MGL Counts 2 and 3," together with MGL Count 1, the "M.G.L. Charges"). On April 2, 2018, A.S. was arraigned on the M.G.L. Charges in the NDC before defendant JOSEPH.

A.S. retained the Defense Attorney as A.S.'s lawyer for the NDC proceedings.

Federal ICE Proceedings

- 7. Fingerprints of A.S. taken by Newton Police on March 30, 2018 and submitted to a national law enforcement database revealed that A.S. had been previously deported from the United States by federal immigration officials in 2003 and again in 2007. Federal immigration records revealed that, upon A.S.'s last removal, a federal immigration official had issued an order that prohibited A.S. from entering the United States for a period of twenty years, that is, until 2027.
- 8. After learning of A.S.'s arrest by Newton Police, on or about March 30, 2018, an ICE Immigration Officer issued a federal Immigration Detainer Notice of Action (the "Detainer"), and a Warrant of Removal (the "Warrant") for A.S. to Newton Police. The Detainer requested that Newton Police: (i) notify ICE prior to any release of A.S.; (ii) relay the Detainer to any other law enforcement agency to whom Newton Police transferred A.S.; and (iii) maintain custody of A.S. for up to 48 hours for ICE to take custody. The Warrant stated that A.S. was subject to removal from the United States based upon a final order by a designated official, and that any

Immigration Officer with the United States Department of Homeland Security was commanded to take custody of A.S. for removal from the United States.

- 9. On April 2, 2018, Newton Police transferred custody of A.S. to the NDC and forwarded the Detainer and the Warrant to the NDC Clerk's Office, with copies of the same provided to the Assistant District Attorney assigned to NDC from the Middlesex District Attorney's Office (the "ADA"), and the NDC Probation Office ("Probation"), among other Courthouse personnel, and the Defense Attorney.
- 10. As part of ICE removal proceedings, on the morning of April 2, 2018, ICE dispatched an ICE Officer (the "ICE Officer") in plainclothes to execute the Warrant and take custody of A.S. upon A.S.'s release from the NDC. At the NDC, the ICE Officer, in accordance with DHS Policy (see below), notified NDC personnel (including, among others, the Court Officers, the Clerk of Court (the "Clerk"), and the ADA), and the Defense Attorney of the ICE Officer's identity and purpose at the Courthouse on that date.

Newton District Court - Custom, Practice, and Rules

11. The NDC maintained a regular court calendar during which criminal and civil case matters were heard before the NDC District Court Judge in the first-floor courtroom (the "Courtroom"). Defendants in NDC custody were held in the lockup area in the lower level of the Courthouse, and were brought upstairs by an NDC Court Officer to an enclosed glass dock in the Courtroom for their court appearances. If a defendant was released from custody, the normal custom and practice in NDC was for the Court Officer to release the defendant from the glass dock on the first floor and out into the Courtroom, which had one public entry/exit that led to the NDC lobby.

- 12. On or about November 10, 2017, the Executive Office of the Massachusetts Trial Court issued guidance to all Massachusetts state judges, clerks, and other courthouse personnel titled, "Policy and Procedures Regarding Interactions with the Department of Homeland Security," ("DHS Policy"). The DHS Policy instructed, in pertinent part, that (1) "Trial Court employees should be mindful that courthouses are public spaces that are open to all persons and that all persons entering a courthouse should be treated with respect and dignity, including individuals subject to civil immigration detainers and DHS employees;" (2) "DHS officials may enter a courthouse to perform their official duties;" and (3) that, "pursuant to an immigration detainer or warrant, court officers shall permit the DHS official(s) to enter the holding cell area in order to take custody of the individual once Trial Court security personnel have finished processing that individual out of the court security personnel's custody."
- 13. Massachusetts Rules of Court, which prescribed rules for all state district courts, including NDC, provided, in pertinent part, that "[A]ll courtroom proceedings, including arraignments in criminal ... cases, shall be recorded electronically" The NDC had an electronic recording device in the Courtroom, which the Clerk operated to record all NDC proceedings.

The April 2, 2018 NDC Proceedings

14. On April 2, 2018, defendant JOSEPH was assigned as the District Court Judge at NDC, hearing and ruling on several criminal proceedings in the Courtroom on that date. The proceedings were electronically recorded by the Clerk, who was seated directly in front of defendant JOSEPH's bench at the front of the Courtroom. The ADA, probation officers, court officers, including defendant MACGREGOR, defense attorneys, and other members of the public were also in attendance.

- 15. At approximately 9:30 a.m., the ICE Officer arrived in plainclothes at NDC. The ICE Officer announced his identity and purpose to various Courthouse personnel, including the Clerk, who informed defendant JOSEPH. The ICE Officer then remained in the public audience area of the Courtroom during the morning session.
- 16. At approximately 10:34 a.m., defendant JOSEPH assigned a court-appointed lawyer ("Bar Advocate") to A.S. and arraigned A.S. on the M.G.L. Charges, but agreed to re-call the case later that day after ordering the ADA to provide more information to the Court and the Bar Advocate as to the M.G.L. Fugitive Charge.
- 17. At approximately 12:04 p.m., defendant JOSEPH re-called A.S.'s case and asked the ADA for the Commonwealth's position as to bail or detention of A.S. on the M.G.L. Charges. The ADA told defendant JOSEPH that the ADA would not seek to detain A.S. on the M.G.L. Drug Charges, but would only make a bail request for the M.G.L. Fugitive Charge. A.S.'s case was then set for a further call later that afternoon to address the M.G.L. Fugitive Charge.
- 18. Following the 12:04 p.m. proceeding, associates of A.S. retained the Defense Attorney to represent A.S. on the M.G.L. Charges. The Defense Attorney received copies of the Detainer and Warrant, and was also permitted to review other law enforcement database records that were obtained by Probation in connection with A.S.'s case.
- 19. Also following the 12:04 p.m. proceeding, at defendant JOSEPH's direction, the Clerk instructed the ICE Officer to leave the Courtroom and wait outside the Courtroom, contrary to the DHS Policy. The Clerk informed the ICE Officer that, in the event of A.S.'s release, A.S. would be released out of the Courtroom into the NDC lobby. The ICE Officer complied and waited in the NDC lobby on the first floor.

20. At approximately 2:48 p.m., A.S.'s case was re-called and the Defense Attorney appeared on behalf of A.S. before defendant JOSEPH. The following proceedings were captured on the Courtroom's court recorder:

Clerk:

Judge, the next case will be Commonwealth versus [A.S.].

[Defense Attorney] has filed an appearance on behalf of

[A.S.]

Defendant JOSEPH:

Good afternoon.

Defense Attorney:

Good afternoon, Your Honor. [Defense Attorney] on behalf

of [A.S.] May we approach briefly?

Defendant JOSEPH:

Yes, please.

Defense Attorney:

Thank you.

Clerk:

Do you want to wait for your client? Or do it -

Defense Attorney:

No. Sidebar.

Defendant JOSEPH:

We're just going to go sideb- $[UI^1]$... is dismissed. So it's

my understanding that ICE is here.

Defense Attorney:

So there's the fugitive -

Defendant JOSEPH:

But there's no warrant -

ADA:

Yes.

Defense Attorney:

There isn't [UI] that we can tie this to him.

ADA:

Eh-, I, I don't think it's him.²

Defendant JOSEPH:

Okay.

Defense Attorney:

But ICE is convinced that this guy. I went over to ICE, they

say they have a biometric match. I went through and did the

research. There's 13 FBI numbers connected to this social.

So something's bad with the [UI]. My client denies that it's

him. ICE is going to pick him up if he walks out the front

¹ Unintelligible on recording.

² Referring to A.S. not being the same person as the subject sought on the Pennsylvania warrant.

door. But I think the best thing for us to do is to clear the

fugitive issue, release him on a personal, and hope that he can

avoid ICE. ... That's the best I can do.

ADA:

I don't think arguing ICE is really my ...

Defense Attorney:

Right.

ADA:

- my, my ...

Defendant JOSEPH:

The other alternative is if you need more time to figure this

out - hold until tomorrow ...

Defense Attorney:

Yeah, but he -

Defendant JOSEPH:

Then it's a different ...

ADA:

There is a detainer attached to my paperwork. But, but, I, I

feel like that's separate and apart from what my role is.

Defense Attorney:

There is an ICE detainer. So if he's bailed out from Billerica

when he goes back there, ICE will pick him up -

Defendant JOSEPH:

ICE is gonna get him?

Defense Attorney:

Yeah.

Defendant JOSEPH:

What if we detain him -

Defense Attorney:

Are we on the record?

Defendant JOSEPH:

[Clerk], can we go off the record for a moment?

Clerk:

What's that?

Defendant JOSEPH:

Are we off the record?

Clerk:

No, we're on the record.

Defense Attorney:

Can we go off the record for a minute?

- 21. In violation of Massachusetts Rules of Court, and at the direction of defendant JOSEPH, the Courtroom recorder was turned off for the next approximately 52 seconds.
- 22. At approximately 2:51 p.m., the recorder was turned back on and the following excerpted proceedings were captured on the Courtroom recorder:

Clerk: Judge, we're back on the record on [A.S.] [Defense Attorney]

on behalf of [A.S.]

Defendant JOSEPH: Good afternoon, [Defense Attorney].

Defense Attorney: Good afternoon. After some extensive research into the various

FBI numbers [UI] social security numbers, as well as obtaining a photo from Pennsylvania, we don't believe that this gentleman

is the same gentleman as on the fugitive-from-justice warrant.

ADA: Your Honor, with the information that I have I don't think that

there is enough tying him to the Pennsylvania warrant. The great deal of other out-of-state records – I do believe that some of them, uh, belong to this individual. But that is not what's at

issue here.

Defendant JOSEPH: Okay.

ADA: So at this point I would dismiss, um, the –

Defendant JOSEPH: The fugitive?

ADA: - [MGL] Count 1, -

Defendant JOSEPH: Okay.

ADA: - um, and there's not a bail request for the [MGL] Counts 2 and

3. But I would ask that, for a pretrial conference date on those.

Defendant JOSEPH: Okay.

Defense Attorney: Absolutely.

Defendant JOSEPH: That's fine.

Defense Attorney: I would ask that he, uh - I believe he has some property

downstairs. I'd like to speak with him downstairs with the

interpreter if I may."

Defendant JOSEPH: That's fine. Of course.

Defense Attorney: Thank you.

Defense Attorney:

All set, Mr. Clerk?

Defendant JOSEPH:

Wait just a second.

Clerk:

There was a representative from, uh, ICE here in the Court

 $\dots [UI]$ to, to visit the lockup.

Defendant JOSEPH:

That's fine. I'm not gonna allow them to come in here.

But he's been released on this.

Defendant

He's released, Mr. Clerk?

MACGREGOR:

Clerk:

What's that?

Defendant

He's released?

MACGREGOR:

Clerk:

He is.

Defense Attorney:

Yep.

Defendant JOSEPH:

He is. Um, [Defense Attorney] asked if the interpreter can

accompany him downstairs, um, to further interview him -

Defense Attorney:

Yes, please ---

Defendant JOSEPH:

- and I've allowed that to happen. [2:54 p.m.]

23. Immediately following the proceeding, defendant MACGREGOR escorted A.S. from the Courtroom downstairs to the lockup, accompanied by the Defense Attorney and an interpreter. Once inside the lockup, defendant MACGREGOR used his security access card to open the rear sally-port exit and released A.S. out the back door at approximately 3:01 p.m.

24. The ICE Officer, who had been instructed by the Clerk to wait for A.S. in the lobby directly outside the Courtroom, as that was where A.S. would have been released in accordance with customary NDC practice, was unaware of A.S.'s release out the rear sally-port exit, and was unable to take custody of A.S. pursuant to the Warrant.

The Conspiracy

Object of the Conspiracy

25. It was the object of the conspiracy to corruptly attempt to obstruct, influence, and impede an official proceeding, to wit, an ICE federal removal proceeding, by preventing the ICE Officer from taking custody of A.S. at the NDC Courthouse on or about April 2, 2018.

Manner and Means of the Conspiracy

- 26. It was a part of the conspiracy that defendant MACGREGOR and the Defense Attorney agreed that defendant MACGREGOR would use his security access card to release A.S. out the rear sally-port exit in order for A.S. to evade arrest by the ICE Officer at the NDC Courthouse.
- 27. It was a part of the conspiracy that defendant JOSEPH and the Defense Attorney agreed to create a pretext for A.S. to be brought back downstairs to the lockup so that A.S. could be released out the rear sally-port exit in order to evade arrest by the ICE Officer at the NDC Courthouse.

Acts in Furtherance of the Conspiracy

- 28. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to achieve the object thereof, the defendants and their co-conspirators committed and caused to be committed one or more of the following acts in furtherance of the conspiracy:
- 29. Defendant JOSEPH ordered the Clerk to turn off the Courtroom recording device to conceal defendant JOSEPH's conversation with the Defense Attorney.

- 30. With the recorder off, defendant JOSEPH and the Defense Attorney discussed devising a way to have A.S. avoid being arrested by the ICE Officer.
- Defendant JOSEPH ordered that the ICE Officer be prevented from entering the downstairs
 Courthouse lockup area.
- 32. After ordering A.S.'s release, defendant JOSEPH ordered that A.S. be returned downstairs to the lockup for the Defense Attorney to "further interview" A.S., which, in reality, was a pretext to allow A.S. to access the rear sally-port exit in order to avoid the ICE Officer.
- 33. Once A.S. was returned downstairs to the lockup, defendant MACGREGOR used his security access card to open the sally-port exit and release A.S. from the back door of the Courthouse, contrary to NDC custom and practice.

Defendant JOSEPH's False and Misleading Statements to other District Court Judges

34. Defendant JOSEPH made false and misleading statements regarding the April 2, 2018 incident to other district court judges inquiring about the matter, including defendant JOSEPH's false statements to a senior district court judge during a meeting in mid-April 2018. During this meeting, when asked why the NDC Courtroom recorder was shut off during the April 2, 2018 proceeding, defendant JOSEPH falsely attributed unfamiliarity with the Courtroom recording equipment as the reason the recorder was turned off.

Perjury

- 35. Beginning in or about May 2018 to in or about April 2019, a federal Grand Jury sitting in Boston, Massachusetts, conducted an investigation into possible violations of federal criminal laws, including Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1512 (c)(2) (obstruction of justice) and 1505 (obstruction of a federal proceeding), in the District of Massachusetts. The circumstances surrounding defendant MACGREGOR's April 2, 2018 release of A.S. from the NDC sally-port exit were material to the Grand Jury's investigation.
- 36. On or about July 12, 2018, defendant MACGREGOR falsely testified before the federal Grand Jury, in substance and in part, that, prior to releasing A.S. from the sally-port exit, he was unaware that ICE agents were in the Courthouse, and he was unaware there was a detainer for [A.S]. Defendant MACGREGOR's testimony before the Grand Jury included the following false material declarations:
 - (A) Q: [Y]ou said you didn't know there was an immigration detainer.
 - A: I didn't see one.
 - Q: Did you know there was an immigration detainer?
 - A: No. I couldn't if I didn't see it.
 - O: Well, someone --
 - A: The clerk's clerk's office didn't have it, it wasn't in the clerk's papers, wasn't in the arrest record, and I have not seen an ICE detainer on Mr. [] -- whatever his name is, [A.S.]?
 - (B) Q: So, am I right that the first time you learned that there had been ICE agents in the courthouse was after [A.S.] was gone when [Court Officer A] said to you, I heard

the judge tell two ICE agents to leave the courtroom?

A: The judge asked them to leave, yes.

- Q: The courtroom. And [Court Officer A] told you this after [A.S.] was gone?
- A: Correct.

- (C) Q: And you did not hear from anyone else that day other than [Court Officer A] that that there had been an ICE agent in the courthouse for [A.S.]?
 - A: Correct.

**

COUNT ONE Conspiracy to Obstruct Justice (18 U.S.C. §§ 1512(k))

The Grand Jury charges:

- 37. The Grand Jury re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 to 34 of this Indictment.
- 38. On or about April 2, 2018, in Newton, in the District of Massachusetts, the defendants

(1) SHELLEY M. RICHMOND JOSEPH and (2) WESLEY MACGREGOR,

conspired with the Defense Attorney to corruptly obstruct, influence, and impede an official proceeding, namely, a federal immigration removal proceeding before the United States Department of Homeland Security.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1512(k) and 1512(c)(2).

COUNT TWO

Obstruction of Justice; Aiding and Abetting (18 U.S.C. §§ 1512(c)(2) and 2)

The Grand Jury further charges:

- 39. The Grand Jury re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 to 34 of this Indictment.
- 40. On or about April 2, 2018, in Newton, in the District of Massachusetts, the defendants

(1) SHELLEY M. RICHMOND JOSEPH and (2) WESLEY MACGREGOR,

did corruptly attempt to obstruct, influence, and impede an official proceeding, namely, a federal immigration removal proceeding before the United States Department of Homeland Security.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1512(c)(2) and 2.

COUNT THREE

Obstruction of a Federal Proceeding; Aiding and Abetting (18 U.S.C. §§ 1505 and 2)

The Grand Jury further alleges:

- 41. The Grand Jury re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 to 34 of this Indictment.
- 42. On or about April 2, 2018, in Newton, in the District of Massachusetts, the defendants

(1) SHELLEY M. RICHMOND JOSEPH and (2) WESLEY MACGREGOR,

did corruptly influence, obstruct, and impede, and endeavor to influence, obstruct and impede, the due and proper administration of the law under which a pending proceeding was being had before a department and agency of the United States, namely, a federal immigration removal proceeding before the United States Department of Homeland Security.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1505 and 2.

COUNT FOUR Perjury (18 U.S.C. § 1623)

The Grand Jury further charges:

- 43. The Grand Jury re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 to 33 and 35 to 36 of this Indictment.
- 44. On or about July 12, 2018, in Boston, in the District of Massachusetts, the defendant

(2) WESLEY MACGREGOR,

while under oath and testifying in a proceeding before a grand jury of the United States knowingly made false material declarations in response to certain questions as set forth in paragraph 36 of this Indictment.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1623.

A TRUE BILL

Mary Glandelf FOREPERSON

DUSTIN CHAO

CHRISTINE WICHERS

ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEYS

DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

District of Massachusetts: APRIL 25, 2019

Returned into the District Court by the Grand Jurors and filed.

DEPUTY CLERK

11:25 am

4/25/19